PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Petitioner, CLASSY CYCLES, INC., (“CYCLES”) is a Florida

corporation.  The Respondent, PANAMA CITY BEACH (the “CITY”) is a Florida

municipality.  The record and the appendix to this brief will be cited by page

number as (R: __) and (App: __) respectively.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

For nearly 20 years, CYCLES has operated a business within the CITY

which rents out scooters to the public.  (R: 769-771)  The CITY has enacted

certain municipal ordinances (the “ORDINANCES”) which limit and, effective

September 8, 2020, will completely prohibit the renting out of scooters within the

CITY. (App: 3, 4)  CYCLES asserts that the ORDINANCES will cause it to suffer

severe financial harm and ultimately will force it out of business.   (R: 1322)1

CYCLES sued the CITY in the circuit court seeking a declaratory judgment

that the ORDINANCES were invalid for a variety of reasons including that the

ORDINANCES completely prohibited an activity which was not a nuisance per se

(a nuisance at all times under all circumstances, regardless of location and

surroundings) contrary to this court’s opinion in Carter v. Town of Palm Beach,

This statement is phrased as an assertion because it is disputed by the CITY1

and the trial court disposed of the case below without resolving this issue.
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237 So. 2d 130 (Fla. 1970).  (App: 7, 8-10) The CITY argued that Carter had been

abrogated by the Legislature’s enactment of the Municipal Home Rule Powers Act

in 1973. (App: 10-12)  The circuit court agreed with the CITY and entered

summary judgment against CYCLES. (App: 9)

CYCLES appealed the summary judgment to the First District Court of

Appeal and argued that Carter mandated reversal.  (App: 8-10) The First District

affirmed the circuit court’s finding that, “the holding in Carter did not survive the

expansion of municipal home rule power.” (App: 12) The First District went on to

hold that, “[CYCLES]’s argument is without merit as it relies on an out dated

legal test that is no longer applicable.”(App: 13) (Emphasis supplied)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In Carter, this court ruled that a municipal ordinance which totally prohibits

a particular business or activity is an unlawful ordinance, unless the business or

activity is a nuisance per se (a nuisance at all times, at all places, etc.).  Contrary to

this court’s opinion in Carter, the First District below expressly approved a

municipal ordinance which totally prohibits a business that is not a nuisance per

se.  Therefore there is conflict.

The First District recognized the above conflict, but found that Carter had

been abrogated by the Municipal Home Rule Powers Act.  The First District erred
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because: (1) the legislature cannot abrogate Carter’s Constitutional protections,

and (2) even if the legislature had such authority, the Municipal Home Rule

Powers Act did not affect this court’s holding in Cater.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This court has discretionary jurisdiction to review decisions of district

courts of appeal that expressly and directly conflict with a decision of another

district court of appeal or of the supreme court on the same issue of law.  Art. V, §

3(b)(3), Fla. Const., and Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv).

ARGUMENT

THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT’S OPINION BELOW EXPRESSLY
AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH THIS COURT’S OPINION
IN CARTER V. TOWN OF PALM BEACH, 237 SO. 2D 130 (FLA.
1970) AND STRIPS BUSINESSES AND INDIVIDUALS OF THE
PROTECTIONS THEY WERE AFFORDED UNDER CARTER
FROM THE ARBITRARY ACTIONS OF LOCAL
GOVERNMENTS.

In its opinion below, the First District approved a local government

outlawing an otherwise lawful activity and thereby forcing a longstanding (almost

20 year) business into bankruptcy.  According to the First District, the only thing

required by the local government to support such a prohibition is unequivocal

“whereas clauses.”  (App: 14) This cannot stand.

In Carter v. Town of Palm Beach, 237 So. 2d 130 (Fla. 1970), this court
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ruled that local ordinances which totally prohibit a particular business or activity

are arbitrary and invalid unless such business or activity is a nuisance per se :2

The decision of the District Court conflicts with the Inglis case,
supra, wherein this Court held invalid, an ordinance of the City of
Vero Beach prohibiting all skating rinks. The Court stated that a
municipality may regulate skating rinks so as to forbid the operation
in an objectionable manner but that they could not lawfully be
prohibited since they were not inherently injurious to public or a
nuisance per se.

A municipality may, under the police power, regulate and
restrain activities which threaten the public health, safety and welfare.
However, the power to restrain and regulate does not include the
power to prohibit an activity which is not a nuisance per se.

The Circuit Court, in the instant case, correctly stated the law
in its opinion set out above. The Town of Palm Beach may regulate
and control surfing and skimming in areas subject to its jurisdiction
and may prohibit these activities at certain places along the beach.
However, the complete prohibition of this sport from all the beach
area is arbitrary and unreasonable.

Carter, at 131-132. (Emphasis supplied)

In finding it was not bound to follow this court’s holding in Carter, the First

District did not hold or even suggest that this court had ever overruled or receded

A nuisance per se is a nuisance at all times, under all circumstances,2

regardless of location and surroundings. See A1A Mobile Home Park, Inc. v.
Brevard County, 246 So. 2d 126, 129 (Fla. 4th DCA 1971) (Finding a sewage
treatment plant was not a nuisance per se and holding, “Nothing which is legal in
its inception is a nuisance per se. To be a nuisance per se, it must appear that it is a
nuisance at all times under all circumstances, regardless of location and
surroundings.”) (Emphasis supplied); 38 Fla. Jur. 2d Nuisances § 7 (2019 ed.)
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from Carter.  Indeed, this court has never done so.  Rather, the First District found

that Carter “did not survive” the Legislature’s 1973 enactment of Ch. 73-129, § 1,

at 239-240, Laws of Fla., which is codified as § 166.021, Fla. Stat., (the

“Municipal Home Rule Powers Act” or “MHRPA”):

As the City points out, the law has changed since Inglis and
Carter were decided. The Legislature passed the MHRPA and
provided municipalities with inherent authority to pass ordinances
pertaining to a legitimate exercise of municipal power. Municipal
ordinances no longer require an express statutory provision
authorizing their enactment, but the ordinances must pass the rational
basis test to be upheld.

* * *

The “per se nuisance” requirement is no longer in effect
because it was attached to the now defunct rule requiring
municipalities to only exercise authority expressly granted to them by
the legislature. The modern test is an application of the rational basis
test, which requires that the ordinance in question be reasonable and
not arbitrary. Id. 

The trial court addressed the applicability of Carter and the per
se nuisance rule cogently by pointing out that the holding in Carter
did not survive the expansion of municipal home rule power as
evidenced by modern case law upholding prohibitions of activities
that are not per se nuisances.

* * *

Thus, under modern home rule power, municipalities have
broad authority to regulate activities impacting public health, safety,
and welfare so long as such regulations are not arbitrary or
unreasonable. . . . Accordingly, to the extent that appellant argues
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on appeal that the City was without authority to prohibit the
leasing or rental of motor scooters because motor scooters are not
a “per se nuisance,” appellant’s argument is without merit as it relies
on an out dated legal test that is no longer applicable.

App: 12-13 (Emphasis supplied)

The First District’s analysis is incorrect for two reasons: (1) the legislature

cannot abrogate Carter’s Constitutional protections, and (2) even if the legislature

had such authority, the Municipal Home Rule Powers Act did not attempt to

change the ruling of Carter.

The Legislature Cannot Abrogate Carter’s Constitutional Protections

As Carter struck its ordinance for being “arbitrary and unreasonable,” it is

beyond question that Carter is based on constitutional principals.  See Fraternal

Order of Police, Miami Lodge 20 v. City of Miami, 243 So. 3d 894, 898 (Fla.

2018) (Finding that to survive constitutional scrutiny, “[A] a statute must not be

unreasonable, arbitrary or capricious, and must have a reasonable and substantial

relation to a legitimate government objective.”); Noel v. State, 191 So. 3d 370, 378

(Fla. 2016) (Finding that the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States

Constitution, “protects the individual against the arbitrary and unreasonable

exercise of governmental power.”)  Further, less than three years after Carter, this

court issued a similar opinion finding a state statute prohibiting a certain business
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unconstitutional for similar reasons.  World Fair v. Hodges, 267 So. 2d 817, 819

(Fla. 1972) (“We have consistently upheld the individual's right to pursue a lawful

occupation and also have held that this is a property right protected by the

constitution and the courts. The power to regulate is not synonymous with the

power to prohibit absolutely.”)

Because Carter was based on constitutional protections, the legislature had

no authority to abrogate Carter’s holding.  See Austin v. State ex rel. Christian,

310 So. 2d 289, 293 (Fla. 1975) (“A statute enacted by the Legislature may not

constrict a right granted under the ultimate authority of the Constitution.”).

The Municipal Home Rule Powers Act Did Not Affect Carter

The purpose of the Municipal Home Rule Powers Act was to “reverse” the

way municipalities are legislatively authorized to act.  Before the Municipal Home

Rule Powers Act, when trying to determine if a municipality had a particular

power, the question was, “Is there a statute which expressly authorizes the

power?”  After the Municipal Home Rule Powers Act, when trying to determine if

a municipality has a particular power, the question is, “Is there a statute which

expressly prohibits the power?”  This court has stated the difference as follows:

The apparent difference is that under the new language, all
municipalities have governmental, corporate and proprietary powers
unless provided otherwise by law, whereas under the 1885

-7-



Constitution, municipalities had only those powers expressly granted
by law.

City of Boca Raton v. State, 595 So. 2d 25, 27-28 (Fla. 1992) (Emphasis supplied); 

See also, D'Agastino v. City of Miami, 220 So. 3d 410, 421 (Fla. 2017) (holding

that with regards to the city’s home rule powers, “Legislative statutes are relevant

only to determine limitations of authority.”)

Contrary to the First District’s opinion below, the above “home rule”

analysis has nothing to do with Carter.  The Carter opinion did not address or

even imply any lack of legislative authority.  In Carter, this court struck the

subject ordinance because it found that completely prohibiting an activity which

was not a nuisance per se was “arbitrary and unreasonable.” Carter, at 132.

Under Florida law, the term “arbitrary” does not mean “lacking legislative

authority.”  Rather it means “not supported by facts or logic.”  See Bayonet Point

Regional Medical Center v. Dept. of Health and Rehabilitative Services, 516 So.

2d 995, 1000 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987) (holding, “An arbitrary decision is one not

supported by facts or logic, or despotic.”); Univ. of Miami v. Militana, 184 So. 2d

701, 703 (Fla. 3d DCA 1966) (applying the definition of “arbitrary” contained

Black’s Law Dictionary which is, “ARBITRARY. Means . . . as fixed or done

capriciously or at pleasure; without adequate determining principle; not founded in
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the nature of things; nonrational; not done or acting according to reason or

judgment; depending on the will alone; absolutely in power; capriciously,

tyrannical; despotic. . . .”)

As the ORDINANCES completely prohibit an activity which is not a

nuisance per se (a nuisance at all times, at all places, etc), the ORDINANCES

must necessarily prohibit the activity both where it is a nuisance and where it is

not.  That is what this court found arbitrary in Carter, “[T]he complete prohibition

of this sport from all the beach area is arbitrary and unreasonable.”  Carter, at 131-

132.  Carter, does not involve any lack of legislative authority and therefore the

Municipal Home Rule Powers Act has no affect on this court’s ruling in Carter.

Importance of Carter’s Continued Viability

This court must not allow the rights of citizens to engage in lawful

businesses to be subject to the whim of local government.  Carter provides an

important restraint on local governments.  A restraint that has been used by the

Florida Attorney General many times to keep local governments in check.   Such3

 See Op. Att’y Gen. Fla. 2002-38 (2002) (City’s power to regulate the3

public’s use of the beach was limited as provided in Carter); Op. Att’y Gen. Fla.
92-86 (1992) (County may only ban dogs from the beach if the county determines
that the presence of dogs in such areas is inherently dangerous to the public or is a
nuisance per se as provided in Carter); Op. Att’y Gen. Fla. 79-71 (1979) (City was
limited in its regulation of beach and boating activities as provided in Carter)
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restraint should not be lightly swept away.

CONCLUSION

This court has discretionary jurisdiction to review the decision below, and

the court should exercise that jurisdiction to consider the merits of CYCLES’

argument.

(The remainder of this page was intentionally left blank.)