PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 
	

Respondent, Panama City Beach, Florida, will be referred to herein as “the 

City.” Petitioner, Classy Cycles, Inc., will be referred to herein as “Classy.” 

References to the appendix to this brief will be made with the abbreviation “App.” 

followed by the appropriate page number of the appendix. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS 

The City is a municipal corporation located in Bay County, Florida. Classy 

is in the business of renting multiple types of vehicles to the City’s visitors 

primarily as amusements and venues for sight-seeing.  

In 2017, the City enacted two ordinances (“the Ordinances”) that impact 

Classy’s business. App. 4. Ordinance 1415 prohibits the overnight rental of certain 

small motor scooters, and Ordinance 1416 prohibits the rental of these scooters in 

the City effective September 8, 2020. Id. The Ordinances contain extensive 

findings of fact, which were not challenged at trial or on appeal. Id. at 4, 9. 

Classy challenged the Ordinances in circuit court and the trial court granted 

final summary judgment in favor of the City. Id. at 9. On appeal, Classy argued, in 

relevant part, that the Ordinances were “arbitrary and unreasonable because they 

ban an activity that is not a per se nuisance. . . .” Id. Classy relied on this Court’s 

opinion in Carter v. Town of Palm Beach, 237 So.2d 130 (Fla. 1970) for this 

argument. The First District Court of Appeal (the “First District”) held that the 
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Ordinances were valid exercises of the City’s constitutional home rule authority 

and satisfied rational basis scrutiny.1 Classy Cycles, Inc. v. Panama City Beach, 44 

Fla. L. Weekly D2729 (Fla. 1st DCA Nov. 13, 2019) (hereafter “Classy Cycles”). 

Seeking discretionary review, Classy argues that Classy Cycles conflicts 

with and improperly attempts to abrogate this Court’s ruling in Carter. Classy 

believes that Carter created a bright-line rule that a government may not, under 

any circumstances, prohibit an activity that is not a nuisance per se. 

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

Classy Cycles does not conflict with this Court’s ruling in Carter. The First 

District rightfully found that the City’s actions were not arbitrary or unreasonable 

and that the Ordinances and Carter were factually distinguishable. Classy’s 

interpretation of Carter fails to acknowledge the effect of an amendment to the 

Florida Constitution in 1968, the enactment of the Municipal Home Rule Powers 

Act (MHRPA) in 1973, and the Florida Supreme Court’s affirmance of the 

MHRPA in 1974. In reaching its decision, the First District did not abrogate this 

Court’s fifty-year-old decision in Carter, but instead analyzed Carter’s modern 

applicability to the undisputed facts at issue. Based on the clear and persuasive 

reasoning of the First District, even if this Court finds conflict, it should exercise 

its discretion and decline review. 
	

1 Although one judge dissented in part, the First District unanimously agreed that 
the City’s actions did not violate this Court’s ruling in Carter.   
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JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT 

This Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review decisions of district 

courts of appeal that expressly and directly conflict with a decision of another 

district court of appeal or of the supreme court on the same issue of law. Art. V, § 

3(b)(3), Fla. Const., and Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv). In this case, the Court 

must decline review because there is no express and direct conflict between Classy 

Cycles and Carter.   

ARGUMENT 

I.  There is no express and direct conflict between Classy Cycles 
and Carter for this Court to accept review of this appeal. 

	
Florida Supreme Court jurisdiction “to review decisions of courts of appeal 

because of alleged conflicts is invoked by (1) the announcement of a rule of law 

which conflicts with a rule previously announced by this court or another district, 

or (2) the application of a rule of law to produce a different result in a case which 

involves substantially the same facts as a prior case.” Mancini v. State, 312 So. 2d 

732, 733 (Fla. 1975).  

“Under the first situation the facts are immaterial. It is the announcement of 

a conflicting rule of law that conveys jurisdiction to us to review the decision of 

the Court of Appeal.” Nielsen v. City of Sarasota, 117 So. 2d 731, 734 (Fla. 1960). 

The Court in Classy Cycles did not announce a rule of law and Classy has not 
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identified one in its brief. Accordingly, there is no jurisdiction under the first prong 

of this test.  

“Under the second situation the controlling facts become vital and our 

jurisdiction may be asserted only where the Court of Appeal has applied a 

recognized rule of law to reach a conflicting conclusion in a case involving 

substantially the same controlling facts as were involved in allegedly conflicting 

prior decisions of this Court.” Id. Classy tries to use the outcome of Classy Cycles 

as evidence for conflict, and thus it appears to rely on the second prong of this test. 

However, the facts of Classy Cycles are not substantially the same as Carter.  

As noted by the First District, in Carter the Supreme Court “recognized the 

ability of cities to prohibit surfing within portions of the city for the safety of its 

citizens. However, the court held that the complete prohibition of this activity from 

all the beach area is arbitrary and unreasonable.” App. 14. The First District 

generally agreed that, in a vacuum, “an ordinance prohibiting a legal business from 

operating within an entire city is arbitrary and unreasonable.” Id.  

However, the court then noted that the facts of Carter and Classy Cycles 

were distinguishable. “In Carter, there is no indication that the Town argued there 

were dangerous conditions present throughout the entire city. Here, however, the 

situation laid out within the whereas clauses unequivocally states that the 

dangerous conditions existed throughout the entire city.” Id.  
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The First District correctly determined that Carter involved insufficient facts 

to support a total prohibition throughout the city. Rather than creating a bright-line 

rule, this Court was simply drawing a conclusion that an activity should not be 

banned without the requite showing that such a prohibition is reasonably related to 

dangers present throughout an area and not just one portion of an area. This 

requirement still applies today through the rational basis test. Otherwise, only a 

nuisance per se would justify a municipal prohibition. 

In the present case, the First District was faced with a different set of facts. 

The court found sufficient evidence that a dangerous condition exists throughout 

the City.2 The First District ruled that “[u]nder these limited circumstances, we do 

not find the ordinances to be arbitrary or unreasonable.” Id.  

To find conflict jurisdiction the facts underlying the cases must be 

substantially the same. See Mancini at 733. Classy Cycles and Carter are factually 

distinguishable, and there is no jurisdiction for the Court to consider this appeal. 

II. Classy is challenging the merits of Classy Cycles rather than 
presenting a true conflict analysis.  

	
Classy does not cite to any caselaw regarding conflict jurisdiction. This is 

	
2 Although Classy criticizes the court for upholding the ordinance based “only” on 
“unequivocal ‘whereas clauses’”, Classy never challenged the accuracy of the facts 
set forth in the whereas clauses of the ordinance, nor did Classy challenge whether 
the ordinance was unreasonable or arbitrary based upon those facts. Petitioner’s 
Brief at 3; App. 9. Legislative findings of fact such as those contained in the City’s 
whereas clauses are presumptively correct unless “patently erroneous.” Panama 
City Beach Cmty. Redevelopment Agency v. State, 831 So. 2d 662, 667 (Fla. 2002). 
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because a careful examination of Classy’s brief shows that Classy is actually 

challenging the underlying merits of Classy Cycles. 3  However, this Court has 

recognized that it is  

not permitted the judicial luxury of upsetting a decision of a Court of Appeal 
merely because we might personally disagree with the so-called ‘justice of the 
case’ as announced by the Court below. In order to assert our power to set 
aside the decision of a Court of Appeal on the conflict theory we must find in 
that decision a real, live and vital conflict within the limits above announced.  

 
Nielsen at 734–35.  

Classy uses exaggeration 4  and unproven factual allegations 5  to garner 

sympathy from the Court, but arguing whether the First District was “incorrect” or 

whether Classy will go bankrupt does not establish conflict jurisdiction. As in 

Nielsen, this plea for Supreme Court intervention to save it from the First District’s 

opinion does not create a conflict and cannot be used to permit review of this 

appeal. 
	

3 See Petitioner’s Brief at 2-3, 6 (Arguing that the First District “erred” and was 
“incorrect”). 	
4 Classy argues that “[t]his court must not allow the rights of citizens to engage in 
lawful businesses to be subject to the whim of local government” and not to let 
Carter be “lightly swept away.” Petitioner’s Brief at 9-10. Surely, the rational basis 
test imposed by the First District protects citizens from the “whim of local 
government.” 
5 Classy writes that the Ordinances “will cause it to suffer severe financial harm 
and ultimately will force it out of business” and then puts in a footnote that “[t]his 
statement is phrased as an assertion because it is disputed by the CITY and the trial 
court disposed of the case below without resolving this issue.” Petitioner’s Brief at 
1. Classy also writes later that the decision in Classy Cycles will force its 
“longstanding (almost 20 year) business into bankruptcy”, which is also unproven 
and contested. Petitioner’s Brief at 3.  
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III. Classy’s arguments in its jurisdictional brief are incorrect.  
	

In its jurisdictional brief, Classy argues that Classy Cycles conflicts with 

Carter because the First District found that the holding in Carter was abrogated by 

the passage of the MHRPA. This is an incorrect interpretation of Classy Cycles. 

(A) The First District interpreted and applied Carter with due 
regard for subsequent legal developments in municipal law. 

 
Article VIII, Section 2 of the Florida Constitution was amended in 1968 to 

give municipalities broad home rule powers (“the Home Rule Amendment”). 

Carter was decided two years later in 1970. At that time, the Florida Supreme 

Court did not address the changes that accompanied the Home Rule Amendment. 

However, two years after Carter, in 1972, the Florida Supreme Court had occasion 

to interpret this amendment, and it did so narrowly. See City of Miami Beach v. 

Fleetwood Hotel, Inc., 261 So. 2d 801 (Fla. 1972).6 In response to this narrow 

interpretation, the Legislature enacted the MHRPA in 1973 to clarify the sweeping 

changes that accompanied the Home Rule Amendment. 

Thereafter, in 1974, this Court revisited the Home Rule Amendment, applied 

the MHRPA, and found that it was the Legislature’s “recognition and 

	
6  In Fleetwood, this Court struck down a local rent control ordinance. In so 
holding, the Court applied the now defunct principle that “[t]he powers of a 
municipality are to be interpreted and construed in reference to the purposes of the 
municipality and if reasonable doubt should arise as to whether the municipality 
possesses a specific power, such doubt will be resolved against the City.” Id. at 
803. 
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implementation” of the “broad grant of power to municipalities” under this 

amendment. City of Miami Beach v. Forte Towers, Inc., 305 So. 2d 764, 766 (Fla. 

1974)(J. Denkle, concurring). The Court upheld the constitutionality of the 

MHRPA and expressly validated the sweeping changes that accompanied its 

enactment.  

Classy argues in its brief that “less than three years after Carter, this court 

issued a similar opinion finding a state statute prohibiting a certain business 

unconstitutional for similar reasons.” Petitioner’s Brief at 6-7 (citing World Fair 

Freaks & Attractions, Inc. v. Hodges, 267 So. 2d 817, 819 (Fla. 1972)). However, 

World Fair was decided in 1972, before the MHRPA and Forte Towers. Moreover, 

the law in World Fair failed “because of a lack of any reasonable standards or 

definitions which can be followed in the enforcement of the statute.” Id. It was not 

struck down because it prohibited an activity that was not a nuisance per se.  

In fact, the Court noted that there could be some circumstances where a total 

prohibition would be appropriate, but ultimately found that the law as written did 

not have the necessary standards and definitions to withstand judicial scrutiny. Id. 

at 818. While the Court discussed the importance of being able to pursue a lawful 

occupation, it also recognized that this objective must be weighed against an 

equally compelling objective, “the public health, morals and safety of the public in 

general.” Id. If the government is constitutionally barred from prohibiting any 
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activity that is not a nuisance per se, as Classy contends, then the law in World 

Fair would have been struck down for that reason. It was not.  

Reviewing Carter with fifty years of hindsight, the First District correctly 

found Carter to be an early rational basis analysis rather than a bright-line edict 

restricting municipal power. Classy invites this Court to disregard the MHRPA, the 

Home Rule Amendment, and its own precedent to find that Carter created an 

enduring bright-line rule that continues in full force and effect today. The Court 

should decline this invitation.  

(B) Article VIII, Section 2 of the Florida Constitution and the 
MHRPA are relevant to the Court’s holding in Carter. 

 
Classy argues that the shift in home rule power effected by the MHRPA has 

“nothing to do with Carter” because Carter addressed only whether the subject 

ordinance was unreasonable or arbitrary. Petitioner’s Brief at 8. However, the 

Home Rule Amendment completely changed how municipal action is reviewed by 

the courts.  

The MHRPA, which is the implementing statute for this amendment, states 

that “[i]t is the further intent of the Legislature to . . . remove any limitations, 

judicially imposed or otherwise, on the exercise of home rule powers other than 

those so expressly prohibited.” § 166.021(4), Fla. Stat. (emphasis added). Carter 

was decided prior to the MHRPA and this Court’s decision in Forte Towers. To the 

extent Carter may have judicially limited home rule powers beyond those 
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expressly prohibited, that holding was limited by the plain language of the 

MHRPA. 

The First District aptly recognized that modern case law supports this 

conclusion. App. 12. Among the case law cited by the First District was Kuvin v. 

City of Coral Gables, 62 So. 3d 625 (Fla. 3d DCA 2010), which stands out because 

this Court declined discretionary review of Kuvin less than ten years ago. Kuvin v. 

City of Coral Gables, 64 So. 3d 118 (Fla. 2011). As in Kuvin, the Court should 

decline discretionary review of this case. 

CONCLUSION 
	
 Classy Cycles and Carter are factually distinguishable, and there is no direct 

and express conflict between them to permit discretionary review by this Court. 

The First District Court of Appeal rightfully interpreted Carter with due regard for 

subsequent evolutions in municipal law including the Municipal Home Rule 

Powers Act, Article VIII, Section 2 of the Florida Constitution, and this Court’s 

jurisprudence. In light of that analysis, the First District found that the Ordinances 

survived rational basis scrutiny under the undisputed facts of this case. Even if 

there was conflict, this Court should exercise its discretion and decline review 

based on the First District’s well-reasoned opinion.